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2021 29
2025
27,655,070.45 99.09
254,199.17 0.91
27,909,269.62
( 3,979 ) 100.00
2025
84,603.12 14,566,553.79 16,319,941.85 | 58.47
6,070,956.84 774,361,300 803,309,009 | 20.22
13,669.92 2,680,993.60 2,920,988.51 | 11.91
31,669.02 3,513,867.62 3,711,292.45 | 8.48
2025
2025
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2025

2021 12 12,987,382.48 1,181,332 10.125 921
2022 12 3,400,366.96 309,297 9.126 830
2023 12 2,999,259.67 272,813 10.049 914
(2024 12 ) 2,809,323.38 255,536 10.812 983
2024 3,046,542.34 277,113 10.374 944
3,037,483.83 276,290 10.384 945

3,046,052.92 277,069 10.523 957

3,060,884.81 278,418 10.648 969

3,068,386.74 279,100 10.673 971

10 3,015,764.60 274,314 10.750 978

11 2,880,187.97 261,982 10.741 977

12 2,809,323.38 255,536 10.812 983

2025 3,729,622.07 339,246 10.897 991
3,757,921.46 341,821 11.024 1,003

3,738,195.08 340,026 10.966 997

3,741,605.41 340,336 10.946 996

2024 2024 12
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2021 12 2,969,393.61 481,547 10.097 1,637
2022 12 2,365,026.43 383,536 8.990 1,458
2023 12 2,402,278.67 389,578 9.832 1,594
(2024 12 ) 2,942,585.11 477,199 10.556 1,712
2024 2,431,394.61 394,299 10.142 1,645
2,425,148.64 393,286 10.135 1,644

2,626,020.17 425,862 10.269 1,665

2,652,995.40 430,236 10.384 1,684

2,966,616.23 481,096 10.465 1,697

10 2,947,790.04 478,043 10.521 1,706

11 2,951,832.78 478,699 10.504 1,703

12 2,942,585.11 477,199 10.556 1,712

2025 2,996,004.09 485,862 10.620 1,722
2,942,732.79 477,223 10.736 1,741

3,021,582.04 490,010 10.660 1,729

2,946,067.59 477,764 10.628 1,724
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2021 12 1,443,693,109 1,015
2022 12 1,019,307,164 903
2023 12 932,367,483 957
(2024 12 ) 896,987,096 1,001
2024 871,698,938 975
864,968,514 973

873,257,187 983

840,081,484 992

819,669, 257 997

10 892,476,684 1,002

11 910,964,983 998

12 896,987,096 1,001

2025 899,519,570 1,005
907,159,071 1,013

813,200,434 1,005

809,989,396 1,000
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2021 12 45,887,505.25 6,542,182 10.146 1,447
2022 12 21,064,608.96 3,003,181 9.216 1,314
2023 12 18,118,715.20 2,583,185 10.253 1,462
(2024 12 17,501,910.40 2,495,247 11.160 1,591
2024 18,561,185.65 2,646,268 10.633 1,516
18,471,583.59 2,633,494 10.645 1,518

17,903,737.12 2,552,536 10.801 1,540

17,982,950.37 2,563,829 10.944 1,560

18,036,975.63 2,571,532 11.043 1,574

10 17,637,644.22 2,514,599 11.112 1,584

11 17,403,631.05 2,481,236 11.097 1,582

12 17,501,910.40 2,495,247 11.160 1,591

2025 16,897,859.29 2,409,128 11.245 1,603
18,145,699.01 2,587,032 11.383 1,623

17,810,162.00 2,539,195 11.318 1,614

16,479,331.39 2,349,458 11.312 1,613
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1,721,573.083 438,746.279 1,282,826.804
1,721,573.083 438,746.279 1,282,826.804
2,513.674 912,699.048 372,641.430
2,513.674 912,699.048 372,641.430
329.236 74,493.902 298,476.764
329.236 74,493.902 298,476.764
655.429 39,278.740 259,853.453
655.429 39,278.740 259,853.453
319,269.604 25,203.722 294,065.882
319,269.604 25,203.722 294,065.882
7,720.652 38,704.275 263,082.259
7,720.652 38,704.275 263,082.259
15,103.946 33,865.649 244,320.556
15,103.946 33,865.649 244,320.556
75,757.670 41,327.699 278,750.527
75,757.670 41,327.699 278,750.527
1,627,107.574 204,931.330 1,422,176.244
1,627,107.574 204,931.330 1,422,176.244
147,170.657 440,171.370 1,129,175.531
147,170.657 440,171.370 1,129,175.531
33,282.534 188,374.266 974,083.799
33,282.534 188,374.266 974,083.799
206,489.166 284,774.501 895,798.464
206,489.166 284,774.501 895,798.464
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6,020,627.833 1,497,981.044 4,522,646.789
6,020,627.833 1,497,981.044 4,522,646.789
36,329.209 2,473,196.340 2,085,779.658
36,329.209 2,473,196.340 2,085,779.658
104,567.490 423,126.581 1,767,220.567
104,567.490 423,126.581 1,767,220.567
227,722.782 426,648.101 1,568,295.248
227,722.782 426,648.101 1,568,295.248

2021 2021 27

10
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2024 12 31
2024 2023
3,11 538,288 76,744 455,986 65,010
4,11 27,643,061 3,941,071 29,163,188 4,157,796
5 103,174 14,710 20,315 2,896
28,284,523 4,032,524 29,639,489 4,225,702
11,12 103,075 14,695 103,262 14,722
6 283,612 40,435 178,181 25,403
386,687 55,130 281,443 40,125
10 27,897,836 3,977,394 29,358,046 4,185,577
10(a) 249,853 298,477
10(a) 278,751 244,321
10(a) 896,298 974,084
10(a) 1,568,295 1,767,221
10.792 982 10.013 911
10.539 1,709 9.798 1,589
1,000 954
11.141 1,588 10.217 1,457
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2024 12 31

2024 12 31 2023 12 31
7,11 12 2 12 2
8 1,468,872 209,417 2,755,836 392,900
(31,846) (4,540) (11,719) (1,671)
1,437,038 204,879 2,744,129 391,230
11 (34,174) (4,872) (36,310) (5.177)
11 (15,801) (2,253) (16,147) (2,302)
11 (32,339) (4,611) (31,430) (4,481)
12 (227,824) (32,481) (242,064) (34,511)
11 (2,848) (406) (3,026) (431)
(22,910) (3.266) (12,821) (1,828)
(35,056) (4,998) (33,389) (4,760)
11 (8.,000) (1,141) (7.968) (1,136)
11 (4,475) (638) (3.378) (482)
11 (65) ® (52) )
(28,138) (4,012) (27,454) (3,914)
(411,630) (58, 686) (414,039) (59,030)
1,025,408 146,192 2,330,090 332,201

35
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2024 12 31

2024 12 31 2023 12 31
29,358,046 4,185,577 31,538,076 4,496,383
4,39 627 1,989 284
852,758 121,578 148,484 21,169
1,367,679 194,990 217,977 31,077
2,441,648 348,106 1,014,320 144,612
4,666,481 665,300 1,382,770 197,142
(341,470) (48,683) (451,819) (64,416)
(449,246) (64,049) (332,053) (47,341)
(1,827,139) (260, 495) (1,206,153) (171,961)
(4,534,244) (646,447) (3,902, 865) (556,431)
(7.,152,099) (1,019,675) (5.892,890) (840,149)
(2,485,618) (354,375) (4,510,120) (643,008)
1,025,408 146,192 2,330,090 332,201
27,897,836 3,977,394 29,358,046 4,185,577

35
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2024 12 31

2024 12 31 2023 12 31
1,025,408 146,192 2,330,090 332,201
(12) 2 (12) ()
1,025,396 146,191 2,330,078 332,199
1,520,127 216,725 2,305,353 328,674
1,843,000 262,757
22,987 3,277
187) Q@7 (32,185) (4,589)
12 2 12 2
2,545,348 362,890 6,469,245 922,320
4,583,622 653,487 1,362,455 194,245
(7,046,668) (1,004,643) (7.627,187) (1,087,408)
(2,463,046) (351, 156) (6,264,732) (893,163)
82,302 11,734 204,513 29,157
455,986 65,010 251,473 35,853
538,288 76,744 455,986 65,010

35
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2024 12 31
2024
65,144 37,931 103,075
283,612 283,612
* 27,897,836 27,897,836
28,246,592 37,931 28,284,523
2023
66,197 37,065 103,262
178,181 178,181
* 29,358,046 29,358,046
29,602,424 37,065 29,639,489
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2023 12 31

372,641 263,082 1,129,176 2,085,780
329 15,104 33,282 104,567

(74,493) (33,865) (188,374) (423,126)

298,477 244,321 974,084 1,767,221
655 75,758 206,989 227,723

(49,279) (41,328) (284,775) (426,649)

249,853 278,751 896,298 1,568,295

2023 12 31
10 10
1,000 10

142/299



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2024 12 31
27,897,836 2023 29,358,046

(®)

2024

1,746,345 3,054,557 5,705,691 17,501,279 28,007,872

(67,180) 3,174 (64,006)

(2,870) (5,020) 9,377) (28,763) (46,030)

1,676,295 3,049,537 5,699,488 17,472,516 27,897,836
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2023
2,057,472 2,667,630 6,616,906 18,117,220 29,459,228
(7.,067) (9,162) (22,728) (62,225) (101,182)
2,050,405 2,658,468 6,594,178 18,054,995 29,358,046
2024
259,853 278,751 895,798 1,568,295
(10,000) 500
249,853 278,751 896,298 1,568,295
2023
298,477 244,321 974,084 1,767,221
298,477 244,321 974,084 1,767,221
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0.12
0.01
15,000
0.06
0.01
4,500 AML
8,000
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
34,174 2,983 36,310 2,950
15,801 3,781 16,147 3,822
32,339 2,853 31,430 1,475
2,848 249 3,026 246
8,000 3,949 7,968 3,948
4,475 1,072 3,378 1,097
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2024 12 31 2023 12 31
28,007,872 29,459,228
10.811 10.048
10.556 9.832
1,001 957
11.159 10.252
10.880 10.058
10.633 9.836
1,009 958
11.239 10.255
9.953 8.180
9.735 8.030

946 803

10.160 8.278
7.59 10.12

7.36 9.38

4.60 5.98

8.85 11.25
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Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securies Fund
- & series bust of Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust
Fingncial statementis for the year ended 31 December 2024

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024
(Expressed in United States dollars)

Note 2024 2023

Assels
Cash and cash equivalents 311 5 538,288 -3 455 986
Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss 4,11 27,643,061 29,163,188
Subscription receivable 5 103,174 20,315
Total assets $ 28284523 § 29,639,489
Liabilities
Accruals and other payables 11,12 % 103,075 s 103,262
Redemption payable (=3 283612 178,181
Total liabilities (excluding net assets

attributable to the unitholders) % 386,687 3 281,443
Met assets attributable to unitholders 10 % 27 BO7.B836 § 29358046
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Agetris Financial Myhnd Sscunties Fund
= & v busl of Rad Are Siobal Investmants (Cayman) Trust
Finameial Stide mants for fhe year anded 31 Dacaribar 2024

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024

(continued)
{Expressed in United States dollars)

Note 2024 2023
Total number of units in issue
ALID Uit 10(a) 249853 298,477
EUR Unit 10(a) 278,751 244 321
JPY Unit 10(a) 895 298 974,084
USD Unit 10(a) 1,568,295 1,787 221
MWet asset value per unit in local currency
ALID Upit AUD10.792 AUD10.013
EUR Unit EUR10.539 EURS. 794
JPY Unit JPY1,000 JPYS54
USD Unit UsDi1.141 UsDi10.217

Approved and authonsed for issue by the Trustee and the Manager on 27 June 2025,

For and on behalf of CIBC Caribbean Bank and
Trust Company (Cayman) Limited (formerly
FirstCanbbean Intemational Bank and Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited) " Trustee")

For and on behalf of
Citigroup First Investment
Management Limited ("Manager”)

§\
h

The notes on pages 11 to 35 form part of these financial statements,
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Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securities Fund
- & swries bust of Red Arc Giobal Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statemeniz for the year ended 31 December 2024

Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2024

{Expressed in United States dolfars)

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
MNote 2024 2023
usp usp
Interest income from bank balances .11 5 12 3 12
Met gain on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 8 1,468,872 2,755,836
Met foreign exchange loss (31,848) (11,.719)
Total income $ 1437038 $ 2744129
Management fee 11 3 (34174) 3 (36,310)
Trustee fee 11 (15,801) (16,147)
Administration, transfer agent and custodian
fees 11 32,339) (31,430)
Distributor fee 12 (227.,824) (242,064)
Agent company fee 11 {2.848) (3,026)
Legal expenses (22 810) (12 .821)
Audit fee (35,058) (33,389)
Financial staternents preparation fee 11 (8,000) {7 9B6B)
Regulatory expenses 11 {4,475) (3,378)
Bank charges 11 (63) (92)
Miscellaneous expanses (28,138) (27 454)
Total operating expenses 3 (411,630) 5 {414,039)
Change in net assets attributable to
unitholders from operations and total
comprehensive income for the year $ 1,025.408 $ 2,330,020

The notes on pages 11 to 35 form part of these financial statements.

152/299



EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Statement of changes

in net assets attributable to unitholders
for the year ended 31 December 2024

(Expressed in United States dollars)

EBalance at the beginning of the year
Transactions with unitholders
Subscription of units

= AUD Unit

- EUR Unit

- JPY Unit
= USD Unit

Redemption of units

- AUD Unit
= EUR Unit
- JPY Unit
- USD Unit

Total transactions with unitholders

Change in net assets attributable to
unitholders from operations and total
comprehensive income for the year

Balance at the end of the year

Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securities Fund
- & series bust of Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statemeniz for the year ended 31 December 2024

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023

usD usp

$ 29358,048 F AN538076
3 4,396 5 1,889
852,758 148,484
1,367 679 217977
2,441 648 1,014,320

$ 4666481 ¥ 1382770
{341,470) {451,819)
(448 246) (332,053)
{1,827,139) {1,206,153)
{4,534, 244) {3,802 BE5)
{7,152 099) {5,692 890)

3 (2485818 § (4510120)
3 1025408 $ 2330080
§ 27897536 $ 28358046

The notes on pages 11 to 35 form pan of these financial statements,
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Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securities Fund
- & series bust of Red Arc Giobal Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statemeniz for the year ended 31 December 2024

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2024

{Expressed in United States dolfars)

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
Operating activities
Change in net assets attributable to unitholders from
operations and total comprehensive income for the
year % 1,025408 $ 2,330,000
Adjustments for:
Interest income {12) (12

Operating profit before changes in working capital $ 1,025396 § 2330078

Decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss 1,520,127 2,305,353
Decrease in armounts dua from broker - 1,843,000
Decrease in other receivable - 22987
Decrease in aceruals and other pavables {187) {32,185)
Interest received 12 12

Net cash generated from operating activities 5 2545348 $ 6469245

Financing activities

Proceeds from unit subscriptions % 45838622 g 1362455
Payments on unit redemptions (7,046 668) (7 627 187
Net cash used in financing activities 5 (2,463048) $ (6264733
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3 82,302 -1 204513
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the

year 455 986 251,473
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 538,288 5 455 986

The notes on pages 11 to 35 form part of these financial staternents.
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Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securities Fund
- & series bust of Red Arc Giobal Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statemeniz for the year ended 31 December 2024

Motes to the financial statements
(Expressed in United States dolfars unless otherwise indicated)

1 General

Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust {the “Trust”) is an umbrella unit trust established
as an exempted trust under the Trust Act of the Cayman Islands by a Trust Deed dated 21
October 2008, as amended and restated on 10 March 2015, between Citigroup First
Investment Management Limited as manager (the "Manager”) and CIBC Caribbean Bank and
Trust Company (Cayman) Limited (name changed with effect on 13 August 2024, farmerly,
FirstCaribbean International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited) as trustee (the
“Trustea”) (jointly "Management”), The Trust was registerad under the Mutual Funds Act of the
Cayman |slands on 27 October 2008. Algebris Financial Hybrid Securities Fund (the "Series
Trust™) was established on 13 November 2020, The Series Trust's first dealing day was 29
January 2021,

The investment objective of the Series Trust is to seek long-term growth by adopting
investment strategy set out in note 9(a).

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Trust and the Series Trust had no
employees. The investment activities of the Series Trust are managed by the Manager. The
administration and custodian functions of the Series Trust are delegated to Citibank, N.A. Hong
Kong Branch (the "Administrator” and the “Custodian”). SMBC Trust Bank Ltd, Tokai Tokyo
Securities Co., Ltd. and Akatsuki Securities, Inc. are the distributors (the “Distributor”) of the
Series Trust. Units are offered in Japan as a public offer under Article 2, Paragraph 3, Iterm 1
of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan.

2  Material accounting policies
{a) Statement of compliance

These financial staterments have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reparting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Cerified Public Accountants (HKICPA" and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The material accounting policies adopted by the
Series Trust are set out below,

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Series Trust. Note 2(d) provides
information on any changes in accounting pelicies resulting from initial application of these
developmants to the extent that they are relevant to the Series Trust for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

The Series Trust has consistently applied the accounting pelicies during the year and are
consistent with the prior year.

11
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Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securties Fund
- & swries bust of Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statemeniz for the year ended 31 December 2024

2 Material accounting policies (continued)
{b) Basis of preparation

The functional and presentation currency of the financial statements is the United States dollar
{"USD0") (rounded to the nearest USD) and not the local currency of the Cayman Islands,
reflecting the fact that the units of the Series Trust are issued and redeemed in USD and the
Saeries Trust's performance is measurad in USD terms.,

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis except that certain financial instruments are stated at their fair value as explained
in the accounting policies, note 2(e) below. Other financial assets and liabilities are stated at
amortised cost or redemption amount (i.e. for redeemable units).

The preparation of financial statements in confermity with HKFRSs requires Management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilties that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates,

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods,

Judgments made by Management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on
the financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 13,

fe) Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into USD at the exchange rate at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated inte USD at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting year.
Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss as net foreign
exchange gain or loss, except for those arnsing from financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, which are recognised as a component of the net gain or loss on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss,

{d) Changes in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting pericd of the Series Trust. None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Series Trust's result and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prapared or prasented.

The Series Trust has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current period (see note 14).

12
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Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securities Fund
- & series bust of Red Arc Giobal Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statemeniz for the year ended 31 December 2024

2 Material accounting policies (continued)
{e) Financial instruments
(i) Initial recognition

The Series Trust classifies its financial instruments into different categeries at inception as
mentioned in (i) below. Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, which
normally will be equal to the transaction price. Transaction costs on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are expensed as incurred,

The Series Trust recognisas financial assets and financial iabilities on the date it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of financial
assets at fair value through profit or less is recognised using trade date accounting. From
these dates, any gains and losses arnising from changes in fair value of the financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are recorded as they occur,

{iy  Categorisation

On initial recognition, the Series Trust classifies financial assets as measured at amortised
cost or fair value through profit or loss “FWTPL").

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost f it meets both of the following conditions and
is not designated as at FWTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest ("SPPI7).

All other financial assets of the Senes Trust are measurad at FWTPL.

Business model assessment

In making an assessmant of the objective of the business madel in which a financial asset is

held, the Series Trust considers all of the refevant information about how the business is

managed, including:

- the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice. This
includes whether the investment strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to
the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows
through the sale of the assets;

- how the perfarmance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to Management;

13
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Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securities Fund
- & swries bust of Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statemeniz for the year ended 31 December 2024

Material accounting policies (continued)

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those risks are managed;

- how the Manager is compensated: e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of
the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

= the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons
for such sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition
are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Series Trust's continuing
recognition of the assets.

The Series Trust has determined that it has teo business models.

- Held-to-collect business model; this includes cash and cash equivalents, and subscription
receivable. These financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flow,

- Other business model: this includes an open-ended investment fund. This financial asset
is managed and its perfformance is evaluated, on a fair value basis, with frequent sales
taking place.

Assessment whether confractual cash flows are SPP/

Forthe purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for
the credit risk associated with the principal amount cutstanding during a particular year of time
and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well
as a profit margin,

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Series Trust considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows
such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Series Trust
considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

- leverage features:

= prepayment and extension features;

- terms that limit the Senes Trust's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-
recourse features); and

- features that modify consideration for of the time value of meney (2.9. periodical reset of
interest rates).

14
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Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securities Fund
- & series bust of Red Arc Giobal Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statemeniz for the year ended 31 December 2024

2 Material accounting policies (continued)

The Series Trust classifies its investments based on the business model and contractual cash
flows assessment. Accordingly, the Series Trust classifies its investment in an open-ended
investment fund inte financial assets at FVTPL category. Financial assets measured at
amortised cost include cash and cash equivalents, and subscription receivable. Financial
liabilities measured at amertised cost include redemption payable and accruals and other
payable.

Reclassifications

- Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Saries
Trust were to change its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all
affected financial assets would be reclassified on the first day of the first reporting year
fallowving the change in the business modeal,

(iiy Fair value measurement principles

Fair value iz the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or,
in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Series Trust has access at that
data. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Series Trust measures the fair value of a financial instrument using the
quoted price in an active market for that instrurment. A market is regarded as active if
transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide
pricing information on an ongoing basis. The Series Trust measures instruments quoted in an
active market at a price within bid-ask spread, because this price provided a reasonable
approximation of the exit price.

If there i no gquoted market price on a recognised stock exchange or a price from a
broker/dealer for non-exchange-traded financial instruments, or if the market for it is not active,
the fair value of the instrument is estimated using valuation techniques that provide a reliable
estimate of prices which could be abtained in actual market transactions,

The bast evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the
tranzaction price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Series Trust
determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair
value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability
nor based on a valuation technigue that used only data from observable markets, the financial
instrument is intially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair
value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is
recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later
than when the valuation is suppeorted wholly by observable market data or the transaction is
closed out.

Where discounted cash flow technigues are used, estimated future cash flows are based on
Management's best estimates and the discount rate used is a market rate at the end of the
reporting year applicable for an instrument with similar terms and conditions. \Where other
pricing models are used, inputs are based on market data at the end of the reporting year.

The Series Trust recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting year in which they oceur,
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Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securities Fund
- & series bust of Red Arc Giobal Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statemeniz for the year ended 31 December 2024

2 Material accounting policies (continued)
(iv) Impaiment

The Series Trust recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss ("ECL™) on financial
assets measured at amortised cost.

The Series Trust measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for
the following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs;

- financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial assets for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the asset) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Series Trust considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Series Trust's
historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking
information,

The Seres Trust assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if
it is more than 30 days past due.

The Series Trust considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the borrower is unlikely to pay fts credit obligations to the Series Trust in full, without
recourse by the Series Trust to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The Series Trust considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the credit rating of
the counterparty is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. The
Series Trust considers this to be Baa3 or higher per Moody's or BEB- or higher per Standard
& Poor's.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument.

12-menth ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within
the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument
is less than 12 months),

The maximum pered considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
aver which the Series Trust is exposed to credit risk,

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weaighted estimate of credit losses. Cradit losses are measurad as the
present value of all cash shotfalls {i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity

in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Series Trust expects to receive).
ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
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Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securities Fund
- & series bust of Red Arc Giobal Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statemeniz for the year ended 31 December 2024

2 Material accounting policies (continued)
Credit-impaired financial assels
At each reporting date, the Series Trust assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised
cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
accurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following cbservable data;
- significant financial difficulty of the borrawer or issuer;
- a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or
- it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the sfafement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of the assets,

Wirite-off
The gross carrying amaunt of a financial asset is written off when the Series Trust has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.

(v} Derecognition

The Series Trust derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
assets are transferred or in which the Series Trust neither transfers nor retains substantially all
of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Series Trust derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled, or expired.

(wi) Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilties are offset and the net amount presented in the
staternent of financial position when, and only when, the Series Trust has a legal right to offset
the amounts and it intends to either settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

(vii) Structured entities
A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not
the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate

to administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual
arrangements.
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Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securities Fund
- & series bust of Red Arc Giobal Investments (Cayman) Trust
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Material accounting policies (continued)
A structured entity often has some or all of the fellowing features or attributes:
- Restricted activities;

- A narrow and well-defined objective, such as to provide investment cppertunities for
investors by passing on risks and rewards associated with the assets of the structured entity
to investors;

- Insufficient equity to permit the structured entity to finance its activities without subordinated
financial suppaort; and

- Financing in the form of muitiple contractually linked instruments to investors that create
concentrations of credit or ather risks (tranches).

Management has determined that the Series Trust's investment in Algebris Financial Credit
Fund (the "Investrnent Fund”) (see note 2(a)}, a sub-fund of Algebris UCITS Funds Plc, an
investment in an unconsolidated structured entity, is classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (see note 4). The Investment Fund's investment cbjective is to provide
a high level of income and generate modest capital appreciation. The Investment Fund is
managed by an unrelated asset manager and applies various investment strategies to
accomplish its investment objectives.

The Investment Fund invests primarily in fixed and variable interest securities (e.g. corporate
bonds, which may be investment grade or below investment grade as rated by Moody's,
Standard & Poor's, Fitch or other rating agencies, or unrated), contingent convertible
instruments {“CoCo-Bends™), hybrid securities (a security which combines both debt and equity
characteristics), Tier 1 and upper and lower Tier 2 securities (which are forms of bank capital),
trust preferred securities (a2 type of hybrid security), preference shares, convertible securities
{e.g. convertible bonds or convertible preferred stock), other subordinated debt, as further
described below, as well as exchange traded notes ("“ETNs"), exchange traded funds ("ETFs7),
which provide exposure to the paricular asset classes in which the Investment Fund’s
manager wishes to invest, and deposits. The Investment Fund is listed and registered on
approved or recognised stock exchange. The Series Trust holds redeemable shares in the
Investment Fund and is not sponsoring the Investment Fund. As at 31 December 2024, the
Series Trust held 0,19% (2023: 0.24%) of the total redeamable share value of the Investment
Fund.

The Series Trust's holdings in the Investment Fund are subject to the terms and condition of
the respective offering documentation and are susceptible to market price risk arising from
uncertainties about future values of the Investment Fund. Management makes investment
decision after extensive due diligence of the Investrment Fund including consideration of its
strategy and the overall quality of the Investment Fund's manager.

The change in fair value of the Investment Fund is included in the statement of comprehensive
income as net gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
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Material accounting policies (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are shart-term,
highly liquid imvestments that are readily convertible inte known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition.

Interest income and inferest expense

Interest income from bank balances are recognised on an accrual basis,

Net gain or loss from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Met gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes all realised and
unrealized fair value changes and foreign exchange differencas, but excludes interest income
and interest expense.

Preliminary expenses

Preliminary expenses of the Series Trust are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenses

All expenses of the Series Trust are recognised in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

Income tax

Cayman Islands

Under the current taxation regime in the Cayman Islands, the Series Trust is exempt from
paying taxes on income, profits or capital gains. The Trust has received an undertaking from
the Governor in Cabinet of the Cayman Islands exempting it from tax for a peried of 50 years

from the date of the creation of the Trust. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is included
in these financial statements.

Hong Kong

The Series Trust is not expected to be subject to Hong Kong tax in respect of any of its
investment activities,
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2 Material accounting policies (continued)
{f) Redemption of units by unitholders

Unitholders may redeam units on any day on which commaercial banks are open for business
in each of Hong Kong, London, Dublin, New York, and Tokyo, and/or any other day or days
designated in writing by the Manager from time to time (the "Repurchase Day"). Units will be
redeemed at the net asset value per unit on the relevant Repurchase Day, a price which iz
calculated by reference to the net asset value of the Series Trust as at the applicable
Repurchase Day.

frm)  Units in issue

The Series Trust classifies financial instruments issued as financial liabilities or equity
instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual terms of the instruments.

A puttable financial instrument that includes a contractual obligatien fer the issuer to
repurchase or redeem that instrument for cash or another financial asset is classified as equity
if it meets all of the following conditions:

{i) it entiles the holder to a pro rata share of the Series Trust's net assets in the event of
the Saries Trust's liquidation;

(i) itisin the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments;

{iiy allfinancial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes
of instruments have identical features;

() apart from the contractual obligation for the Series Trust to repurchase or redeem the
instrurment for cash or another financial asset, the instrument does not include any other
features that would require classification as a liability; and

(v} the total expected cash flows attributable to the instrument over its life are based
substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the change
in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Seres Trust over
the life of the instrument.

The Series Trust has four classes of redeemable units in issue: AUD Unit, EUR Unit, JPY Unit
and USD Unit that rank pari passu in all material respects and have identical terms and
conditions except for offering fee terms and different currencies. The redeemable units provide
unitholders with the right to require redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the
unitholder's share in the net assets of the Sernes Trust at each Repurchase Day, and also in
the event of the Series Trust's liquidation.

The Series Trust's realisable units are classified as financial liabilities and are measured at the
present value of the redemption amounts.
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2 Material accounting policies (continued)
(n) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Series Trust if that
person;

(i) has control or joint control over the Series Trust;
(i) has significant influence over the Series Trust; or

(i) is a member of the key managemeant personnel of the Series Trust or the Searies
Trust's parent,

(B  An entity is related to the Series Trust if any of the following conditions applias:

{iy ~ The entity and the Series Trust are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) ©One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a Series Trust of which the other entity is @ member),

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

{iv) ©One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

(v} The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Series Trust or an entity related to the Series Trust.

(vi} The entity is contralled or jointly contralled by a person identified in (a).

(wity A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key
managament personnel services to the Series Trust or to the Series Trust's parent.

Close members of the family of a persen are thase family members who may be expectad to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the Series Trust.

3  Cash and cash equivalents

2024 2023
uso uso
Current deposits with a bank 5 535,288 -3 455,988

Cash held by the Series Trust is deposited with Citibank, N.A, Hong Kong Branch,
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2024 2023
usD usD
Mon-derivative financial assets:
- Open-ended mutual fund
- Algebris Financial Credit Fund Class |
USDVAUDVEURMPY - Accumulating 5 27 E43.081 ¥ 29163183
Subscription receivable
2024 2023
uso uso
Subscription receivable 103,174 20315

The balances represent amounts receivable from unitholders for subscribed units but not yet
settled as at the reporting date. These balances were settled within one month from 31
December 2024,

Redemption payable

2024 2023
UsD usp
Redemption payable 283612 178,181

The balances represent the amounts payable to unitholders for redeemed units but not yet
seftled as at reporting date. These balances were settled within one month fram 31 December
2024,

Interest income from bank balances

Year anded Year endad

3 Dacambar 2024 31 Decambar 2023

UsD s

Interest income from bank balances 5 12 5 12
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8 Met gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
uspo Uso
MNon-dervative financial assets;
- Open-ended mutual fund
= Algebris Financial Credit Fund Class |
USDVAUD/EUR/JPY = Accumulaling 5 1,465933 5 2,758.2086
Derivative financial instrumeants:
= Foreign currency forward contracts b 2,939 5 (3.070)

1,488,872 3 2,755,836

9 Financial instruments and associated risks

The Series Trust’s investing activities expose it to various types of financial risks that are
associated with the financial instruments and markets in which it invests according to the
investment strategy. The risks that the Series Trust is exposed to are risks of the fund-of-fund
structure, market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk and the risks of the underlying fund. Market
risk includes interest rate risk, currency risk and price risk.

The nature and extent of the financial instrurments outstanding at the end of the reporting year
and their associated financial risks, as well as the risk management policies employed by the
Series Trust are discussed below.

{a) Investment strategy

The investment objective of the Series Trust is to provide modest capital appreciation, by
investing indirectly in senior and subordinated debt securities of the financial credit sector
globally, including preference shares and hybrid capital instruments, which may be rated
investment grade or below investment grade. The Series Trust will seek to achieve its
investment cbjective by investing substantially all of the assets of the Series Trust into the
following corresponding shares of the Investment Fund,

Corresponding shares of
Units of Serfes Trust the Investment Fund
AUD Units Class | AUD shares
EUR Units Class | EUR shares
JPY Units Class | JPY shares
UsD Units Class | USD shares
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9 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

Foraveidance of doubt, the Series Trust's offering memorandum refers to the Investment Fund
as the "Master Fund", accordingly, the defined terms of “Investrment Fund” and “Master Fund"”
may be used inter-changeably through these financial statements and also the offering
memorandum.

The Master Fund is a separate portfolic of assets of the Master Fund Umbrella which is
invested in accordance with the investment objective and policies as set out in the Master Fund
Prospectus and to which all liabilties, income and expenditure of the Master Fund Umbrella
attributable or allocated to the Master Fund will be applied and charged. The Master Fund
Umbrella is an investment company with variable capital incorporated with limited hability in
Ireland with registered number 309801 and established as an umbrella fund with segregated
liability between funds pursuant to the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective
Investrmant in Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2011, as ameanded,

A certain portion of the Series Trust's assets is retained as cash, taking inte consideration the
day-to-day cash needs of the Series Trust as they arise.

{b) Risks of the fund-of-fund structure

The Series Trust invests substantially all of its proceads from the issuance of units into the
Investmeant Fund and operates on a fund-of-fund structure.

The fund-of-fund structure gives rises to a unique risk that multiple parties invest in the
Investment Fund alongside the Series Trust, whose units may not rank pari passu, lowering
the investment retums. Should a major investor withdraw itself from the Investment Fund, the
investors that remain may take up a greater proportion of the operating expenses.
Furthermore, a substantial withdrawal of capital by the investors within a short time period
could necessitate the liquidation of security positions at a time and in a manner which doas not
provide the most economic advantage to the Investment Fund, and which can adversely affect
the value of the Investment Fund's assets.

The Series Trust achieves its investment abjective through its investment in the Investment
Fund. Whether the investment objective can be achieved depends on the performance of the
Investmeant Fund's financial instruments and the continuing availability of the Investment Fund,
as well as the business continuity of the Investment Fund’s manager.

The Series Trust is a fund-of-fund that anly invests in the Investment Fund, therefore the
returns of the Series Trust are highly comelated to that of the Investment Fund. The
performance of the Series Trust, however, can differ from that of the Investment Fund due to
Saries Trust's operating expenses,

fc) Risks of the Investment Fund
Under the fund-of-fund structure, the Series Trust has an indirect exposure to the risks of the
Investment Fund and loss incurred by the Investment Fund can adversely affect the Series

Trust's financial position, The Investment Fund is the underlying fund of the Series Trust and
is exposed to the following key risks which are monitored by the Investment Fund's manager.
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
(i)  Credit risk of the Investmeant Fund

The following assets of the Investment Fund were exposed to credit risk: derivative and non-
derivative financial assets, cash and cash equivalents and other receivables.

As reported by the |nvestment Fund, credit risk associated with investing activities is managed
by the Investment Fund Manager as part of the overall investment process. To reduce the
Investment Fund's counterparty credit exposures, securities trading is primarily conducted on
authorised exchanges and on a delivery-versus-payment basis. The Investment Fund's
manager also monitors the credit rating of the counterparties on a month basis, as reported by
Standard and Poor's and Moody's and Fitch. Additionally, the Investment Fund's manager
meniters the financial position of the counterparties on a gquarerly basis by reviewing eamning
releases, If the credit quality or the financial position of these counterparties deteriorates
significantly the Investrment Fund's manager will recommend to the Board of Directors of the
Investment Fund that the cash and investment holdings be moved to another bank.

{iy  Currency risk of the Investment Fund

Currency risk arises from the effects of exchange rate fluctuations between the Investment
Fund's functional currancy and currency in which its financial instruments are denominated.

As reported by the Investment Fund, the Investment Fund may be exposed to currency risk as
the value of the assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies other than the functional

currency may fluctuate as a result of movements in the exchange rates.

As at 31 Decemnber 2024 and 2023, as reported by the Investment Fund, the |nvestment Fund's
net foreign currency exposures are mainly USD, GBP and CHF denominated. As reported by
the Investment Fund, a 5% (2023: 5%) increase/decrease of foreign currency rate of USD,
GBP and CHF against EUR (functional currency of the Investrment Fund) as at 31 December
2024 and 2023, with all other vanables held constant, the net assets attnbutable to holders of
redeemable participating shares of the Investment Fund would have increase/decrease by
0.02% (2023: 0.02%), respectively.

iy Liquidity risk of the Investment Fund

Ligquidity risk arises when the Investment Fund is not able to generate sufficient cash to settle
its obligations as they fall due, due to its inability to receive cash redemptions proceeds fram
the Investment Fund in timely manner.

The investments of the Investment Fund include collective investment schemes, which may
impose greater restrictions on redemptions than those imposed by the Investment Fund. This
may include offering less frequent redemption dates than are offered by the Investment Fund
to its unitholders.

In general, the Series Trust's investment in the Investment Fund can be redeemed on any
business day. For redemption requests that exceeds 10% of the net asset value of the
Investmeant Fund, the Investment Fund's manager may defer the amount of redemption in
excess of 10% to the subsequent business day, such deferred redemption would be processed
on a pro-rata basis with other shareholders who had submitted a redempticn notice on the
subsequent business day.
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

The Investment Fund's manager may also impose temporary suspension of valuation of net
asset value and also redemptions. Triggers for such suspension may be, but not limited to,
close of a market that is significant to the Investment Fund's investment activities, periods
where disposal, or valuation of investments which constitute a substantial portion of the assets
of the Investrment Fund is not practically feasible or is only possible on terms that would be
materially disadvantageous to the Investment Fund's investors.

{iv)  Interest rate risk of the Investment Fund

Interest rate risk arises from the effects of fluctuations in prevailing market interest rates on
which the fair value of Investment Fund's financial instruments and future cash flows are
based. In the case of many credit instrurments that may be acquired by the Investment Fund,
the likelihood of default on the instruments increases as interest rates rise. As reported by the
Investment Fund, if interest rates had been 100 (2023: 20) basis points higherlower with all
other variables held constant, the associated net change in net assets attributable to holders
of redeemable shares of the Investment Fund would have been 0.85% (2023: 0.46%)
lower/higher, respectively.

(v)  Derivative risk of the Investment Fund

Derivative risk arises from derivative contracts undertaken by the Investrment Fund for hedging
and investment purposes. The value of the derivative contracts are determined by fluctuation
in the underlying assets. Derivative contracts add to the liquidity, credit and counterparty risk
of the Investment Fund.

{d) Market risk of the Series Trust

All investments held by the Series Trust are measured at fair value through profit or loss, and
all changes in market conditions directly affect profit or loss. Market risk is the risk that the
value of the investments will fluctuate as a result of changes in intarest rates, exchange rates
or prices.

{iy Interast rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the future
cash flows or the fair value of financial instruments and therefore result in a potential gain or
loss to the Saeries Trust. The Series Trust's interest rate risk is managed on an on-going basis
by the Manager. Except for bank deposits, all the financial assets and liabilties of the Series
Trust are non-interest bearing.

(iiy Currency risk

Currency risk arises from the effects of exchange rate fluctuations between the Series Trust's
functional currency and currency in which its financial instrurments are denominated. The
Series Trust does net have any significant foreign currency exposure because each unit issued
by the Series Trust denominated in AUD, EUR, JPY and USD is invested in corresponding
Class | AUD shares, Class | EUR shares, Class | JPY shares and Class | USD shares
respectively of the Investment Fund as stated in note 9(a). Management does not consider
there to be any significant risk associated with it.
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
(iiy ~ Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes
in market prices, whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment, its issuer or
all facters affecting all instruments traded in the market.

Frice sensifivity

The assets of the Series Trust are substantially invested in the Investment Fund and therefore
are exposed to the price risk of the Investment Fund. As reported by the Investment Fund, a
5% (2023: 5%) increase/decrease in equity prices as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 would
have no impact to the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares of the Investment
Fund.

It is estimated that a 10% (2023: 5%) decrease in the quoted price of the Investment Fund
would result in a decrease in the net assets aftributable to unitholders and the total
camprehensive income for the year by approximately USS2 764 306 (2023; US31,458,159);
an equal change in the opposite direction would result in an increase in the net assets
attributable to unitholders by an approximately equal amount.

fe) Credit risk of the Series Trust

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation or a commitment that it has entered into with the Series Trust. The Series Trust's
exposure to credit risk is monitored by the Manager on an ongoing basis.

The Series Trust is exposed to credit risk with respect to the Custedian, which has custody of
the Series Trust's cash and cash equivalents balances and the Investment Fund. All the cash
held by the Series Trust is depesited with Citibank, N.A. Hong Kong Branch which is also the
Administrator and the Custodian. The credit rating of Citibank, N.A. Hong Kong Branch is “A+"
(2023: A+) as rated by Standard & Poor's. The Manager considers the cradit risk of the bank
to be low.

As at 31 Decamber 2024 and 31 December 2023, substantially all of the Series Trust's financial
assets were invested in the Investment Fund. The Series Trust is indirectly exposed to credit
risk through its investment in the Investment Fund, refer to note 9{c)(i) for relevant discussion.

(i Liguidity risk of the Series Trust

Liquidity risk arises from the risk that the Manager may not be able to convert investments into
cash to meet liquidity neads in a timely manner., As unitholders may redeam units on any
Repurchase Day, the Series Trust is exposed to liquidity risk of meeting unitholder
redemptions. Any amount payable to unithelders in respect of the redemption of units shall
normally be paid within three fund business days following the relevant Repurchase Day as
defined in 2([), subject to the receipt of the applicable sale proceeds of the investment.

The Saries Trust holds investmaents in an open-ended mutual fund, which may be subject to
redemption restrictions. Refer to note 9ic)(ii) for dizcussion of the liquidity risk associated with
the Investment Fund.
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
Analysis of iabilties by remaining maturify

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the Series Trust's liabilities
as at 31 December 2024

2024
Over Over
Within 1 month o 2 morths
1 month 3 moanths to 1 year Total
Non-trading liabilities
Accruals and other payables 5 B5 144 5 - 5 3793 % 103075
Redemption payabie 283812 . . 283612
Met assets attributable to unitholders® 27 BaT B35 - - 27 BOT B35
Total 28245582 & - 5 37831 528284523
2023
Over Over
Within 1 month fo 3 months
1 morth 3 months ta 1 year Total
Non-trading liabilities
Accruals and other payables % 86107 & - & aroes 3 103282
Redemption payable 178,181 - - 178,181
Met assets attributable to unitholders® 28 358 D45 . - 20,358 045
Total 20602424 5 - 5 37065 529,630 489

*  SBubjec lo the Wguidity larms of the Seres Trust and the Investmend Fund.

fg) Fair values

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value
The following table presents the fair value of the Series Trust's financial instruments measured
atthe end of the reporting pericd on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to the observability and significance of

the inputs used in the valuation technigue as follows;

= Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

- Lewvel 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. cbservable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not available.

- Lewvel 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

2024
Level 1 Leval 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Nan-dervative financial assets:
- Open-ended mutual fund - Algetris
Financial Credit Fund Class |
USDFAUDVEURMPY - Accumulating 3 - B2TE43081 35 - 527,643 061
2023
Level 1 Lavel 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Non-derivative financial agsets:
- Open-ended mutual fund - Algebris
Financial Credit Fund Class |
USDIAUDVEURMPY - Accumulating 3 - 529163188 5 - $29,163,188

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no transfers among
instruments in Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3. The investments in the Investment Fund are
classified as Level 2 as the Investment Fund is not an exchange traded fund with publicly
available trading volume data.

(i)  Financial instruments carrizd at other than fair value
The financial instruments not measured at FVYTPL include;

i. cash and cash equivalents, subscription receivable, redemption payable and accruals and
other payables. These are short-term financial assets and financial liakilties whose carmying
amounts approximate fair value, because of their short-term nature and the high credit quality
of counterparties; and

ii. net assets attributable to unitholders. The Series Trust routinely redeems and issues the
redeamable units at the amount equal to the proportionate share of net assets of the Series
Trust at the time of redemption, calculated on a basis consistent with that used in these
financial statements. Accordingly, the carrying amount of net assets attributable to unitholders
approximates their fair value. The units are categorised into Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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10 Net assets attributable to unitholders

fa) Units issued and redeemed

Number of units
AUD Unif EUR Unit JPY Unit US0 Urit
AL 1 January 2023 372,641 263,082 1,129,176 2,085,780
Subscription of units during the year 329 15,104 33,282 104, 567
Redemption of units during the year (74 453) (33,865) (188,374) 1423 128)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January
2024 298 477 244 321 O74,084 1,767,221
Subscription of units during the year 655 75,758 206,589 2TV
Redemption of units during the year (49 275) (41,328) (284 773) (426 649)
At 31 December 2024 243,853 278,751 B96 258 1,968,295

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all units issued by the Series Trust were classified as
financial abilties.

The initial offering of the AUD Unit were at a price of AUD10 per unit, EUR Unit at EUR10 per
unit, JPY Unit at JPY1,000 per unit, and USD Unit were at USD10 per unit. Units may be
redeemed on the redemption date and also in the event of the Series Trust's liguidation at the
net asset value per unit of the applicable class of units on the relevant redemption date with
no redemption charge.

In meetings of unitholders for any resclution to be proposed in respect of the Series Trust,
individual unitholder present in person, by proxy or by representative, has one vote for every
unit of which it is the holder.

The Trust and the Series Trust do not have any externally imposed capital requirements. As
at 31 December 2024, the Series Trust had net assets attributable to unitholders of
$27 897,836 (2023:; $29,358,048). The Series Trust strives to invest the funds received from
the issue of units in investments that meet the Series Trust's investrment cbjectives while
maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet the funding needs when unitholders redeem their units.

Unitholders of the Series Trust cannot switch their units into units of any other series trust of
the Trust.

The Series Trust does not intend to pay dividends or other distributions.
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Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securities Fund
- & swries bust of Red Arc Giobal Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statemeniz for the year ended 31 December 2024

Met assets attributable to unitholders (continued)
Reconciliation of net assets

In accordance with the Series Trust's offering memorandum, the net assets of the Series Trust
are computed using the pre-determined cut-off time for all transactions. Transactions after that
offering memorandum based cut-off time are recorded the next day. Under the HKFRSs
requirements, these transactions are recorded on the same day to comply with recegnition and
derecognition criteria for the financial instruments. This approach creates a timing difference
between the HKFRSs net assets and units issued and the offering memorandum net assets
and units issued. Preliminary expenses are amorised over a period of 5 years from date of
commencament of aperations. However, for financial reporting purpases under HKFRSs, all
expenses should be recognised in profit or loss when they incurred.,

A reconciliation of the net assets between the amounts computed for valuation purposes and
the amounts computed in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

2024
AUD wnit EUR it JPY unit USDr urvt Total

MNet assets attnbutable to

unitholders for valuation

purposes 1,746,345 53054557 S5705681  $17.501,279 528,007 872
Adjustment for timing

difference {67,180) 5 3174 - (64,006)
Adjustiment on preliminary

EXpENSes (2,870) (5,020) (9,377) (28, 763) (48 030)
Met azsets attributable to

unitholders as reported

in the financial

slatements 51676295 353049537 55699488 S17472516 827 897,836

2023
AUD it EUR wiml JPY urnit USD urwt Total

Met assets attributable to

unithalders for valuation

purposes £ 2057472 S2667E30 S66169068 S18117220 $£29.458228
Adjustment on preliminary

EXpenses (7.067) {9,162) (22 728) (62,225) {101,182)
Met assets attributabie to

unitholders as reported

in the financial

slatements 52050405 S26584668 56594178 518054995 529358046
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Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securities Fund
- & swries bust of Red Arc Giobal Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statemeniz for the year ended 31 December 2024

Met assets attributable to unitholders (continued)

A reconciliation of the number of units between the numbers used for valuation purposes and
the numbers recorded in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

2024
AUD unit EUR unit JPY urt USD urit
Units issued for valuation purpose 259,853 278751 BS5 798 1,568 295
Adjustment for timing difference (10,000 £ 500 E
Units izsued as reported inthe
financial statements 249 853 278,751 B06 208 1,568,295
2023
AUD it EUR urut JPY it US0 unit
Units izsued for valuation purpose 298 477 244 321 974,084 1,767,221
Units izsued as reported inthe
financial statements 298 477 244,321 974,004 1,767,221

32
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Agetriz Financial Hybrid Securities Fund
- & swries bust of Red Arc Giobal Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statemeniz for the year ended 31 December 2024

11 Related parties

Charges and expenses from related parties in respect of services provided to the Series Trust
are as follows:

Managemeant fee: The Manager is entitied to a management fee of 0.12%
per annurmn of the net asset value of the Series Trust.
The fee is accrued daily and payable monthly in arrears.

Trustee fee; The Trustee charges a fee of 0.01% per annum of the
net asset value of the Series Trust. The minimum

trustee fee is $15,000 per annum. The fee is accrued
daily and payable quarterly in arrears,

Administrator and transfer agent The Administrator is entitied to a fee of up to 0.06% per
fees: annum of the net asset value of the Series Trust. The
fee is accrued daily and payable monthly in arrears.

Transfer agent fees are charged based on volume of
capital transactions or by the number of distributors,
depending on the nature of service scope. Transfer
agent fees are not subjact to a monthly minimum.

Agent company fee: The agent company charges a fee up to 0.01% per
annum of the net asset value of the Series Trust. The
fee is accrued daily and payable monthly in arrears.

Regulatory expenses: The Trustee charges an AML fee of $4,500 per annum,

Financial statermants preparation The Administrator is entitied to a financial statements

fee: preparation fee of $8,000 per annum. The fee is
accrued daily and payable yearly in arrears.

The following summarises the significant related party transactions of the Series Trust:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Expenses Payables Expenses Fayables
Management fee 2 34174 5 2983 % 36310 5 2,550
Trustee fee 15801 378 16,147 3822
Administration, transfer agency and
custodian fees 32338 2,853 31,430 1.475
Agent company fee 2,848 249 3,026 246
Financial staternents preparation
fae 8,000 3,949 7968 3948
Regulatory expenses 4475 1.072 3378 1.097
33
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Algetriz Financial Hybrid Securiies Fund
- & swries bust of Red Arc Giobal Investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statemeniz for the year ended 31 December 2024

Related parties (continued)

The Series Trust utilises the banking services provided by Citibank, N.A. Hong Kong Branch
in the ordinary course of their banking and securities custodian business. Information relating
to the cash and cash equivalents and investment balance are disclosed in note 3 and note 4
respectively, During the year ended 31 December 2024, the interest income earned from the
bank balances maintained with the Custodian and the bank charges amounted to $12 (2023:
$12) and $65 (2023: $52) respectively.

Distributor fee

SMBC Trust Bank, Ltd., functions as the distrbutor of the Series Trust's units, is entitled to
receive a distribution fee of 0.80% per annum of the net asset value of the Series Trust, For
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Series Trust recognized distributor fee of US$226,473
(2023: US5242.064), of which US$19,3564 (2023: US315,664) remains outstanding at year-
end and is included in accruals and other pavables,

Tokai Tokyo Securities Co., Ltd., is the additional distributor for the Series Trust, is entitled to
receive a distribution fee of 0.80% per annum of the net asset value of the Series Trust. For
the years ended 31 Decamber 2024 and 31 Decamber 2023, Tokai Tokyo Securities Co., Ltd.,
did not charge the Series Trust distributor fee as it did not rendered any distribution services.

Akatsuki Securities, Inc., is the additional distributor for the Saries Trust, is entitled to recaive
a distribution fee of 0.80% per annum of the net asset value of the Series Trust, For the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Series Trust recognized distributor fee of $1,351(2023: Nil) for
Akatsuki Securities, Inc. of which $336 (2023: Nil) remains outstanding at year-end and is
included in accruals and other payables.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Estimation of fair values

The fair values of financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or less are
derived by valuation methodologies and techniques as described in note 2(e)(ii). Fair value
estimates are made at a specified point in time, based on market conditions and information
about the financial instruments, These estimates are subjective in nature and involve
uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore cannot be determined with
precision. MNevertheless, fair values can be reliably determined within a reasonable range of
estimates,

34
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- sorips lnrst of Red Arc Global lovestments (Cayman) Trust
Financial Statements for the yesr ended 31 December 2024

Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2024

LIp to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICFA has issued a number of
amendments and new standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements, These include the
following which may be relevant to the Series Trust

Effactive for
accounting penods
baginning on or affar
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign
exchanges rates: Lack of exchangesbility 1 January 2025
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instrumernts and HKFRS 7,
Financial instrumeants; disclosuras — Amandments to the
classificalion and measurament of financial instruments 1 January 2026
Annual improvernents to HKFRS Accounting Standards = Volume
11 1 January 2026
HKFRS 18, Fresentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027

The Senes Trust is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standard and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application, So far the Series Trust has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have

a significant impact on the Series Trust's results of operations and financial position

Subsequent events

In preparing these financial statements, the Series Trust has evaluated and concluded that
there are no subsequent events required to be disclosed up to the date of the auditors’ repart,
which is the date that the financial staterments are available to be issued.
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Aigedyis Financial Hybrid Securities Fund
- & series bust of Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust
ear anded 31 Decamber 2024

Supplementary information (unaudited)

Performance table
{Expressed in United States dollars)

Year ended Year ended
31 December 21 December
2024 2023
Taotal net asset value (calculated in accordance with
the Offering Memorandurmn) UsD 28,007,872 USD 29,459,228
MNet asset value per unit (calculated in accordance with
the Offering Memorandum)
- AUD Unit AUD 10811 AUD 10048
- EUR Unit EUR 10.556 EUR 9.832
= JBY Unit JPY 1,001 JPY asy7
- USD Unit UsD 11.159 usb 10252
Price recard (calculated in accordance with the
Cffering Memorandurm)
- Highest net asset value per unit during the year
- AUD Unit AUD 10880 AUD 10058
- EUR Unit EUR 10633 EUR 0.836
- JPY Unit JPY 1,009 JPY 858
- USD Unit usp 11.238 ushD 10255
- Lowest net asset value per unit during the year
- AUD Unit AUD 9953 AUD  &.180
- EUR Unit EUR 8,735 EUR 8.030
- JJPY Unit JPY a46 JPY 803
= USD Unit UsD 10.160 usb 8278
Met investment return during the year
- AUD Unit 7.59% 10.12%
= EUR Unit 7.36% 9.38%
- JPY Unit 4 60% 5.98%
- USD Unit 8.85% 11.25%

The net investment returns for the year were calculated by reference to the difference between
the net asset value per unit {calculated in accordance with the Offering Memorandum) of the
Series Trust at the year end date and year beginning date net asset value per unit, divided by
its year beginning net asset value per unit to obtain the return in percentage.
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2025

28,002,895.14 3,992,372,760

93,625.52 13,348,190

27,909,269.62 3,979,024,570

341,832.322

277,197.821

809,798.528

1,456,819.211

10.946 996
10.628 1,724
1,000

11.312 1,613
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2024 12 31
2024 12 31
( )
2024 2024 2023 2023
45,421,853 834,399,440 52,000,112 956,895,357
3,159,756 58,044,718 2,930,485 53,833,009
() 86,301 1,585,349 (1,089,899) (20,021,445)
48,667,910 894,029,507 53,930,698 990,706,922
(41,112,826)  (755,242,614) (66,283,763)  (1,217,632,726)
« ) 7,555,084 138,786,893 (12,353,065)  (226,925,804)
@ 1,635,514 30,044,392 8,078 148,393
) () ) 9,190,598 168,831,285 (12,344,987)  (226,777,411)
11 27 ( )

13
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2024 12 31
2024 12 31
( )
2024 2024 2023 2023
) 1,647,053 30,256,364 11,539 211,971
5,494,418 100,932,459 5,005,211 91,945,726
107,750,084 1,979,369,043 90,907,095 1,669,963,335
113,244,502 2,080,301,502 95,912,306 1,761,909,061
47,152,100 866,184,077 37,235,308 684,012,608
©) 139,680 2,565,922
47,152,100 866,184,077 37,374,988 686,578,530
66,092,402 1,214,117,425 58,537,318 1,075,330,532
67,739,455 1,244,373,788 58,548,857 1,075,542,503
@) 2,000,200 36,743,674 2,000,200 36,743,674
65,739,255 1,207,630, 114 56,548,657 1,038,798,829
67,739,455 1,244,373,788 58,548,857 1,075,542,503
2025 29

)

)

)

)

)

11 27 ( )
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2024 12 31
2024 12 31
( )
2023 2,000,200 68,893,644 70,893,844
(12,344,987) (12,344,987)
13
2023 12 31 2,000,200 56,548,657 58,548,857
2024
9,190,598 9,190,598
13
2024 12 31 2,000,200 65,739,255 67,739,455
2023 36,743,674 1,265,576,240 1,302,319,914
(226,777,411) (226,777,411)
13
2023 12 31 36,743,674 1,038,798,829 1,075,542,503
2024
168,831,285 168,831,285
13
2024 12 31 36,743,674 1,207,630,114 1,244,373,788
11 27 (
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2024 12 31
2024 12 31
(
2024 2024 2023 2023
( 7,555,084 138,786,893 (12,353,065)  (226,925,804)
(3,159,756) (58,044,718) (2,930,485) (53,833,009)
4,395,328 80,742,175  (15,283,560)( )  (280,758,997)
(489,207) (8,986,733) (1,019,623) (18,730,475)
9,916,792 182,171,469 25,236,907 463,601,982
13,822,913 253,926,912 8,933,734 164,112,694
(139, 680) (2,565,922)
13,683,233 251,360,990 8,933,734 164,112,694
3,159,756 58,044,718 2,930,485 53,833,009
3,159,756 58,044,718 2,930,485 53,833,009
16,842,989 309,405,708 11,864,219 217,945,703
90,907,005  1,669,963,335 79,042,876 1,452,017,632
1231 107,750,084  1,979,369,043 90,907,095  1,669,963,335
11 27 ( )

(15,283,560) 15,283,550
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2024 2023
45,421,853 52,090,112

2024 2023
15,115,231 38,427,221
15,653,675 18,471,070
7,266,517 7,241,318
565,410 518,306
55,733 586,455
2,456,260 1,039,393
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@
2024 2023
(9,688)
(9,688)
(1,635,514) 1,610
(1,635,514) (8,078)
2024 16.5 (2023 16.5 )
)
2024 2023
« ) 7,555,084 (12,353,065)
16.5 (2023 16.5 ) ) 1,246,589 (2,038,256)
(534,703) (307,534)
(9,688)
2,347,400
(2,347,400)
( ) (1,635,514) (8,078)
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2024 2023
139,680 149,368

(139, 680)
(9,688)

@)
139,680
13,149 13,149
(1,610) (1,610)
11,539 11,539
11,539 11,539
(1,390) 1,636,904 1,635,514
10,149 1,636,904 1,647,053
2023 12 31
14,226,668
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383 (1) ( )
2024 2023
350,255 6,448,662
166,281 28,076
23,386 4,038,341
17,472 745,555
1,871,695
557,394 13,132,329
2024 2023
107,750,084 90,907,095
2024 2023
1,912,474 4,647,911
158,299 84,403
3,423,645 272,896
5,494,418 5,005,211
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2024 2023

903,915 2,532,842

45,712,774 34,184,160

535,411 518,306

47,152,100 37,235,308

2024 2023
20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200
2024 12 31
(2023 58,548,857 )
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(

)

( ) (
100,000
2024 2023
3,442,228 4,779,868
107,750,084 90,907,095
45,712,775 34,184,160
2024 2023
45,421,853 52,090,112
3,159,756 2,930,485
(15,653,675) (18,471,070)
(15,115,231) (38,427,221)
( 20 )(2024 12
25 )
( 27 )
28
31
36 )
37 )
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( 39
)
( 10 )(
43 )
( 44 )
( 45 )
( 46 )
( 47 )
( 48
(2024 15 )
225 ( 49 )
( 50 )
( 52 )
2203( 53 )
( 54 )
( 55 )
( 56 )
( 57 )
( 59 )
( 60 )
( 62 )
2012(  )(
)
)
20 25 27 28 32 34 36 37 38 39 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50
52 53 54 55 56 57 59 60
0.01 0.60
() 39 45 48 57
55 55 55 70
2024 12 31 39 45 48 57
15,653,675 (2023
:18,471,069 )
)

©
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2024 2023

557,394 13,132,329
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2024
716,907 1,347,800 734
90 2,536,549 48,262,829
(1,653,637) (44,756,942) 1
90 1,599,819 4,853,687 735
2023
3,343,596 1,581,695 595
233 1,999,361 23,843,035
(2,349,143) (34,247,534) @
233 2,993,814 (8.,822,804) 594
2024 2023
) « ¢ 5 «
5.06 5
(6.89) (16)
11.34 181,419 3.08 92,209
(2.89) (86,521)
2.31 17
(0.59) ) (7.59) (45)
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Cingroug Fegt mvesiman! Managenman! Limded
Financial zhafements for the year anded 31 December 2024

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2024

(Expressed in Hong Kong doliars)

Revenus
Interast incomea
Fereign exchange gainf(loss)

Other operating expenses
Profit/ (Loss) before taxation
Income tax

Income! (Loss) and total comprehensive
income/ (loss) for the year

Note

4(a)

2024
§

45421 853
3,159,756

88,301
48,667 910
(41.112,828)
7.558,084

1,635 514

9,120,598

2023
]

52,080,112
2,930,485
(1,089,8989)
53,530,658
(66,283,763)
(12,353,085)

8078

(12,344 987)

The notes on pages 11 to 27 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends
paid to equity shareholders of the Company attribulable to the profit for the year are set oul

in note 13.
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Cligroug First Invesiment Manageman! Limiad
Finaacial statamenis far the year anded 31 December 2024

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024
(Exprassed in Hong Kong dollars)

Mote 2024 2023
- g
MNon-current assets
Deferred tax assels 4(d) 161?0?_3 “_1‘ 153_%
Current assets
Accounts receivable and other assets 7 £,484 418 5,006,211
Cash and cash equivalents 51 107,750,084 90,907,085
113,244 502 95912 3086
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 8 47 152100 37,235,308
Current taxation 4(c) - 139,680
47 152 100 3?,3?4.QE§
MNet current assets 66,092 402 58,537,318
NET ASSETS 67,739 455 58,548 857
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital (a) 2000200 2,000,200
Reserves 65,739,255 56,548,657
TOTAL EQUITY E?,?SQ.AEﬁ 5B 548 B57

Approv authorised for issue by the board of direciors on 29 APR 2025
L
by ".|'!--' .1"

oF = | 3y d | Diremﬂfs

e

The notes on pages 11 to 27 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2024

{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Balance at 1 January 2023

Total comprehensive loss for the
year

Dividend paid

Balance at 31 December 2023

Balance at1 January 2024

Total comprehensive loss for the
year

Dividend paid

Balance at 31 December 2024

Share Ratained
Nate capital profits Total
5 5 3
2,000,200 68 693,644 T0 893 844
- (12,344 987) (12,344 887}
13 - - .
2,000,200 56,548,857 58 548 B57
- 9,190,598 9,190,598
13 - - -
2,000,200 67,730,455

65,739,255

The notes on pages 11 to 27 form part of these financial statements.
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for the year ended 31 December 2024

{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Operating activities
Profit/{loss) before taxation

Adjustment for:
Interest income

Operating cashflow before changes in
working capital

Increase in accounts receivable and other
assets

Increase in accounts payable and accrued
expenses

Cash generated from operating activities

Hong Kong Profits Tax paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

Investing activities

Interest recaeived

MNet cash generated from investing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Note

2024 2023
5 5

7,555,084 {12,353,085)
(3,150,756) (2,830,485)
4,395,328 (15,283,560)
(489,207) (1,019,823)
9,816,792 25,236,907
13,822,913 B,033,734
(139,680) -
12.683,233 8,933,734
3,159,756 2,930,485
3,159,756 2,930,485
16,842,989 11,864,219
90,907,095 79,042 876
107,750,084 50,907 085

The notes on pages 11 to 27 form part of these financial statemeants.
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Motes to the financial statements
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Material accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These financial staternents have been prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRS
Accounting Standards. which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounling Standards ("HKASS") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Keong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPAT),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. Matenal accounting policies adopted by the Company are
disclosed below.

The HEICPA has issuad cerlain amendments to HEFRSs that are first effective or available
for eary adaption for the current accounting period of the Company. Note 1(c) providas
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent thal they are relevant to the Company for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis

The Company has chosen Hong Kong dallars as its functional currency which reflects the
economic substance of the underlying assets and circumstances relevant to the Company,
All values are rounded o the nearest Hong Keng dollar, unless ctherwise indicated,

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reporied amounts of assets, labilities, income and expenses. The estimales and associated
assumplions are based on historical experience and various clher factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the resulls of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources, Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimales and underlying assumplions are reviawad on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the peried in which the estimate is revised if the

revision affects only that peried. or in the pericd of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

11
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Material accounting policies (continued)
Changes in accounting policies

A number of new standards are effective from 1 January 2024 but they do not have a
material effect on the Company’s financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three manths of matunty at acquisition

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Company as revenue when it anses from the provision of services
in the ordinary course of the Company's business.

The Company is the principal for its revenue lransaclions and recognises revenue on a gross
basis. In determining whether the Company acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers
whether it obtains contral of the services befare they are transferred to the customers.
Control refers to the Company's ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from the services.

Revenue is recognised when contrel over service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the Company is expected to be entitied,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Further details of the Company's revenue and other income recognition policies are as
follows:

Investment management fee income is recognised when the relevant services have been
rendered,

- Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method using the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial assel.

12
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Material accounting policies (continued)
Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive abligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probabile that an outflow of economic bensfits will be reguired
to seltle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expendilure expected lo setlle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimaled reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a conlingent liability, unless the
probability of cutflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose exislence
will anly be confirmed by the occcurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Accounts and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the company has an unconditional right to receive
consideration. A right to receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of lime is
required before payment of thal consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised befare
the company has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is presented as
a contract asset.

Account receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are initially
measured al their transaction price. Account receivables that conlain a significant financing
component and other receivables are inifially measurad at fair value plus transaction costs,
All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost, using the effeclive interest method
and including an allowance for credit losses as determined below:

The loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetima expected credil losses
(ECLs), which are those losses that are expacted to occur over the expected life of the trade
receivables. The loss allowance is estimated using a provision matrix based on the
company's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors thatl are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions at
the reparting dafte.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with any changes recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss, The company recognises an impairment gain or loss with a
corresponding adjustmant to the carrying amount of trade and ether receivable through a
loss allowance account.

Accounts payable

Account and other payables are inilially recognised at fair value. Subseguent to initial
recognition, account and other payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at inveice amounts.
Translation of foreign currencies

Fereign currency transactions during the year are translated inte Hong Kong dollars at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilites

13
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denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the end of reporling period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets. Currenl
tax and movements in deferred tax assets are recognised in the stalement of profit or loss
excepl lo the extent that they relate lo items recognised in other comprehensive income or
direclly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to
tax payable in respect of previcus years,

Deferred tax assels anse from deductible temperary differences, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilties for financial reporting purposes and
the tax bases. Deferred tax asseis also arige from unused tax pszes and unused tax credits.
Apart from differences which arise on initial recognition of assets and liabilities, all deferred
tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be ulilised, are recognised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expeacted manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period. Deferred tax assets are not

discounted.

Current tax balances and deferred lax balances, and movemeants tharein, are presented
separately from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offsat against current
tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities if, and only if, the
Company has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities. The principle of offselting usually applies to income lax levied by the same tax
authority on the same taxable entity,

Related parties

{a) A person, or a close member of that person's family, is related to the Company if that
person:

(it has control or joint control over the Company;
(i  has significant influence aver the Company; or

(i} ig a member of the key management personnel of the Company or the
Company's parent.

14
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1 Material accounting policies (continued)

{B) An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

0

(i)

(lii}
()

(v)

{vi)

{wi)

(wiii)

The enlity and the Company are members of the same group (which means thal
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is relaled to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third pary

One entity is a joint venture of a third entily and the other entily is an associate of
the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Company or an entity related to the Company.

The antity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).
A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the enlity oris a
member of the key management persennel of the entity (or of a parent of the

entily).

The antity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the Company or to the Company'’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected lo
influgnce, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

2 Revenue

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of investment management services.

2024 2023
s 3
Revenue from contracts with customers
within the scope of HKFRS 15
Investment management fee income 45,421 853 52 090,112

15
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3 Profit before taxation

Profit before taxalion is arrived at after charging

2024 2023

5 $

Management fee expenses 15,115,231 38427 221
Sub-manager fee expenses 15653675 18,471,070
Lega! and professional fae 7,266 517 7.241 318
Auditors' remuneration 565,410 518,306
Cuslody expenses 55,733 586 455
Others 2,458 250 1,039,393

4 Income tax

fal Income tax in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

represents.

2024 2023
] ]

Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
Ower-pravision in respect of the priar years - (9.688)
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year - .
................. i e R0

Deferred tax

Ongination and reversal of temporary differences {1.535.514_: 1,810
(1,635 514) {8,078)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 is calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the
estimated assessable profits for the year.

16
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4  Income tax (continued)

{b) Reconciliation befween income tax charged to profit or loss and accounting profit at
applicable tax rates:

2024 2023

Profit/{loss) before taxation 7.555 084 (12,353, 065)
Notional tax on profit{loss) before taxation at 16.5%

(2023 16.5%) 1,246 588 (2,038,256)
Tax effect of non-taxable income and non-deducticle

loss (534,703) (307 534)
Over-provision in respect of pricr years (9.688)
Tax loss not recognised - 2,347 400
Recognition of deferred lax assels on prior year tax

losses (2,247 400)
Actual tax (credit) (1,635.514) {8,078)

{e) Current tax payable in the statement of financial position represents:

Nate 2024 2023
5 5
Current taxation bought forward 139,680 145, 368
Hong Keng Profits Tax Paid (139,880) -
Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax provision
relating to pricr years - (9.688)
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the
year 4(a) - -
- 139 6BO
17
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Income tax (continued)
Deferred fax assefs recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets recegnised in the statement of financial position and
the movements during the year are as follows:

Depreciation
in excess of
the related
deprecialion
allowances Tax loss Tolal
$ S s
At 1 January 2023 13,149 - 13,149
(Charged)/credited lo statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income {1,610) - (1.810)
At 31 December 2023 11,538 - 11,539
At 1 January 2024 11,538 - 11,539
{Charged)/credited to statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income (1,390) 1,636,904 1635514
At 31 December 2024 10,149 1,636,904 1,647,053

Ag at 31 December 2024, there is no significant deferred tax asset or liability not provided
for, As at 31 December 2023, the Company had estimated unused tax losses of
HK$14 226 668 available for offset against future profiis.

Directors’ emoluments
Directors” emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companias

Ordinance and Part 2 of the Cempanies (Disclesure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulations are as follows:

2024 2023

-3 5

Directors' fees - -
Salaries, allowances and benafils in kind 380,255 6 448,662
Discrelionary bonuses 166,281 28,078
Share based payments 23,386 4,038,341
Retrement scheme contributions 17,472 745,555
Post-employment benefils - 1,871,695
557,294 13.132.329
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6 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2024 2023
$ S
Cash at bank 107,750,084 90,907,085
7 Accounts receivable and other assets

2024 2023
$ 3
Investmant management fee receivable 1912 474 4,647 911
Legal and professional fee receivable 158,288 B4 403
Others 3423645 272,896

5494 418

5,005,211

All of the above fee receivables are due from funds managed by the Company. All the feg
recaivables are interest-free, unsecured and expected to be sattled within three months

8  Accounts payable and accrued expenses

2024 2023

5 ¥

Legal and professional fee payable 203,815 2,932,842
Intercompany payable 45712774 34,184,180
Audit fee 535411 518,306
47,152,100 37,235,308

All accounts payable and accrued charges are interest free, unsecured and expected to be
setlled within three months.
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Share capital

Issued share capital

2024 2023
Mo, of No. of
shares Amount shares Amotint
5 -}
QOrdinary shares, issued and
fully paid:
At 1 January and 31 December 20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000 200

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares
of the Company do not have a par value

The helders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
egually with regard to the Company's residual assets.

Capital management

The Company's primary objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company's
ahility to continue as a going concemn. As the Company is parl of a larger group, the
Company's sources of additional capital and policies for distribution of excess capital may
also be affected by the group's capital management cbjectives.

The Company defines “capital” as including all components of eguity. On this basis the amount
of capital employed at 31 December 2024 was $67 848,839 (2023 358,548 857)

The Company's capital structure is regularly reviewed and managed with due regard to the
capital management practices of the group to which the Company belongs. Adjustments are
made to the capital structure in light of changes in economic condilions affecting the
Company or the group, to the extent that these do not conflict with the directors’ fiduciary
duties towards the Company or the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,

The results of the directors' review of the Company's capital structure are used as a basis for
the determination of the level of dividends, if any. that are declared.

As alicensed corporation registered under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance,
the Company is also subject to the capital reguirements of the Hong Keng Securilies and
Futures (Financial Resources) Rules ("FRR"). The minimum liquid capital requirement is the
higher of $100.000 and the variable required liquid capital as defined in the FRR. The
Company manitors its compliance with the requirements of the FRR on a dally basis. The
Company complied with the requirements of the FRR at all times during the year.
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Material related p&ﬂ}" transactions

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Company had
transactions in the normal course of business with related parties as follows:

Statement of financial position

2024 2023
5 5
Assets
Accounts receivable and other assels 3,442,228 4,779,868
Cash and cash equivalents 107,750,084 90,807,095
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 45712775 34,184,160
Ineome and expenses
Note 2024 2023
3 L3
Income
Investment managemeant fee income (] 45,421,853 52,000,112
Interest income 3,159,756 2,930,485
Expenses
Sub-manager fee expenses {il) {15,653,675) {18,471.070)
Management fee expenses (iiiy (15,115.231) (38,427.221)

The Company is the fund manager of the following funds during the year:

- Templaton Global Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series ("Fund Series 20") (Terminated on
11 Dec 2024)

- Global Balance Plus Fund ("Fund Series 257)

- S Focused Growth Equily Foreign Currency Series ("Fund Series 277)
- Treasury Premium Plus Fund ("Fund Series 287)

- Treasury Premium Plus || Fund {"Fund Series 317)

- JGB Asset Swap Fund ("Fund Series 367)

- Mikkei 225 Intraday Fund ("Fund Serieg 377)

- China Hong Kong Equity Opperiunities Fund ("Fund Series 38")
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Material related party transactions (continued)

- Flexibata Fund (VT5 Defensive and VT10 Active) ("Fund Series 437)

- USD Denominated Citigroup Note, Return Referring the High Watermark of Global Multi
Asset Strategy Fund ("Fund Series 447)

- Global Multi-Thematic Equity Fund (*Fund Series 457)
- US Equity Intraday Momentum Fund ("Fund Series 487
- Algebris Financial Hybrid Securities Fund ("Fund Series 47")
- MAsia Total Return Fixed Income Fund ("Fund Seres 48" (Terminated on 15 March 2024)
- Nikkei 225 Bear Intraday Fund (*Fund Series 497)
US Large Cap Equity Intraday Fund (*Fund Series 50%)
- S Large Cap Equity Bear Intraday Fund ("Fund Series 527)
- Citigroup Nate Target Setting at Matunty Fund 2203 ("Fund Seres 537
- Citigroup Note Target Sefting at Maturity Fund (*Fund Series 547)
- US T-Mote Bear Intraday Fund ( Fund Series 557)
- US TBA Bear Intraday Fund Series 1 ("Fund Series 567)
- Citigroup Note - Target Selting at Termination Fund (*Fund Series §77)
- JPY IR Bear Intraday Fund Series 2 ("Fund Series 597)
- Citigroup Note - Index Linked Maturity Fund ("Fund Series 60")
JGB Bear Intraday Fund Series 1 {*Fund Series 627)

- CGMYL Index Target Volatility Fund 2012 (SP) ("CGMYL")

22
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Material related party transactions (continued)
The Company is entitled to fee income from the following funds under its management:
invesiment management/advisory fee income

For Fund Series 20, 25, 27, 28, 32, 34 35, 37, 38, 39, 43, 44, 45 46 47 48 49 50 52, 53,
54, 55, 56, 57, 59, 60, CGMYL and KAM, fees are calculated at 0.01% to 0.60% per annum
of the net asset value of the funds.

Pursuant to the sub-management agresment signed between the Company and the
sub-managers for Series 39, 45 48 and 57, the sub-managers' fee expenses are payahble to
the sub-managers calculated at 55%, 55%, 55% and 70% respectively of the gross
management fee income received. The lolal sub-managers' fee expenses paid o the sub-
managers for Series 39, 45, 48 and 57 as al 31 December 2024 amounted to $15 653 675
(2023: $18,471,069)

Managemeni fee expenses

The Company paid management fee expenses lo fellow subsidiaries, which provided
ancillary sale support services to the Company.

Key management personnel emoluments

Besides the directors’ emoluments disclosed in note 5, the following were the key
management personnel emoluments.

2024 2023
-] 5

Amounts disclosed include emoluments
totalling 557,384 B 13, 1_32259

Amounts disclosed emaluments to centain key management personnel were paid by fellow
subsidiaries within Citigroup (“group companies”). The Company did not directly reimburse
the group companies for the service provided,
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Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks and foreign currency risk arise in the
normal course of the Company's businass. These risks are managed by the Company's
financial management policies and practices descnbed below.

Credit risk

The Company’s credit risk is prmarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents held at a
fellow subsidiary bank and outstanding fees receivable arising from the Company's
investment management activilies. Management has a credit policy in place and exposure lo
credil risks is monitored on an ongoing basis,

Management fee receivables are regularly reviewed and settled on a regular schedule. For
the balance due from fellow subsidiaries, management considers the default risk of the
financial assets placed with the group companies to be remote,

The maximum exposure lo credit risk is egual to the carrying amount of these financial
assets as of the end of the reporting period.

Liguidity risk

The Company's liguidity risk management process is integrated into the liquidity and funding
process and liguidity monitoring framework of Citigroup and broker dealers across the
Citigroup network. Citigroup policy requires Citigroup and broker dealers across the
Citigroup network to mainiain a strong liquidity position and ensure sufficient cash flows to
meet both expected and unexpected current and future cash flow and collateral needs.

Al 31 December 2024 and 2023, all financial liabilities mature within one year or are
repayable on demand. Details of the earliest confractual settlement dates of the financial
liabilities are disclosad in notes 8
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11 Financial instruments (continued)

{c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in markst interest rates. The Company does not hold any fixed
rale deposits which are measured at fair value in the financial statements. The Company was
exposad to interest rate risk only to the extent that it @ams bank interest on cash and cash
equivalents in 2024 and 2023 which is considered te be insignificant.

{d) Currency risk

Currency risk arises from the possibility that changes in foreign exchange rate will impact the
value of financial instruments.

To minimise the exposures to foreign currency risk, management ensures that the net
exposure is kept al an acceplable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spol rates
where nacessary to cover the fareign currencies.

{il Exposure to currency risk
The following table details the Company’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to

currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the Company 1o which they relate.

= 2024 idr]
Ausiralian JBCEMESE us Othar Ausiralian Japanaza us O
Dedlars Yan Gefars Currancisg Doftars Yeon Delars  Cumencies
HKD HED HELD HEL HED HED HED HED
equivalanl equivalant eubyalent aquivalent aqubvalent eauivalent afuvakenl equivakent
ACCaunts
racehabla and
othes assels . Ti6,907 1,247,300 134 . 3,343,598 1,581,695 525
Cash ard
cash
equvalents 20 2,536 540 48,282 820 . 233 1,998,361 23,842.033
Accounts
payable and
accived
DAL o (TBGAB3T) (44 756,847 1 < (2388143 (34247 534) {1
Crearall net
EXQOSAINE 90 1559 819 4 B3 SE7 T35 23 2993814  (3E8ZL.E04) L

Hong Kong dollar ("HKD") is pegged to the United States dollar ("USD"), the Company
Iherefore consider the risk of movements in exchange rates between the USD and the HKD
lo be insignificant.
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Citigroup Fest investment Managemant Limited
Finpnoial stelermarnits for the yoar ended 31 December 2024

Financial instruments (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the inslantaneous change on the Company's profil before lax
that would arise if foreign exchange rate to which the Company has significant exposurs at
the end of reporting period had changed at that date. assuming all other risk variables
remained constant.

2024 2023
increase’ Increase’

(decrease) Increase/ {decrease) increase’
in foreign (decreass) in foreign (decrease)
exchange arn profit aexchange on profit

rafes befora tax rates hefare tax

% $ Vb ]

Australian dollars  Maximum 5.08 5 - -
Minimum - - (6.89) (16)

Japanese Yen Maximum 11.34 181,419 3.08 92 209
Minimum - - (2.89) (86.521)

Euro Maximum 2.3 i7 - -
Mimirmum (0.59) {4) (7.58) (45)

The sensitivily analysis azsumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Company which expose the Company
to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, including intercompany payables
and receivables thal are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2023,

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of financial assels and liabililizs are considered nol lo be matenally different
from the carrying valuas in the statement of financial pesition as at 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023

Immediate and ultimate holding company

Al 31 December 2024, the directors consider the Company's immediate helding company to
be Citigroup Global Markets Hong Kong Haldings Limited, which was incorporated in Hong
Kong. This entity produces financial statements bul not available for public use. Its ultimate
holding company at 31 December 2024 is considered to be Citigroup Inc., which was
incorporated in the United States of America. Citigroup Inc. produces consolidated financial
statements under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America,
which are available for public use.
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Cigroue Ews! knestment Menagpemen! Limied
Financial sfatements for the year ended 31 December 2024

Dividend

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attnibutable to the year

2024 2023
HKE HKS

No dividend in respect of the current financial year,
approved and paid during the year (2023 Nil) .

Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial stalements, the HKICPA has issuad a number af
new or amended standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial statemenis. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Company.

Effective for

accounting perods

beginning on or after

Ameandments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign 1 January 2025
exchange rates: Lack of exchangeability

Amendments to HKFRS 8, Financial instruments and HKFRS 1 January 2028

7. Financial insiruments. disclosures — Amendments to the
classification and measurement of inancial instruments

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards - 1 January 2028
Volume 11

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027
HKFRS 12, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
developments is expecled to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the financial statements.
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Independent Auditors® Report to the Trustee
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Algebris Financial Hybrid Securities Fund (the ““Series
Trust®”), a series trust of Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust, set out on pages 6 to 35, which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the statement of comprehensive
income, the statement of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders and the statement of cash
flows for year then ended, and notes, comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Series Trust as at 31 December 2024, and its financial performance and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (““HKFRSs”?) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (““HKICPA~?).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (““HKSAs””) issued by the
HKICPA.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors~”
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Series Trust in accordance with the HKICPA~ s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
““Code””) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The Series Trust may translate these financial statements and our auditors® report from English to
Japanese. We have not been engaged to perform any procedures over the translation. In the event of any
inconsistencies between the English and the Japanese versions of the financial statements and our
auditors ” report, the English version shall prevail.

Information other than the Financial Statements and Auditors® Report Thereon

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report, but does not include the
financial statements and our auditors® report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust for the Financial Statements

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and for such
internal control as the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible
for assessing the Series Trust”s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Manager
and the Trustee of the Series Trust either intend to liquidate the Series Trust or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors = Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors™ report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Series Trust s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager s and the Trustee s use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series Trust”s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditors® report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors™ report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

KPMG LLP

27 June 2025
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Independent auditor®s report to the member of
Citigroup First Investment Management Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Citigroup First Investment Management Limited
(““the Company””) set out on pages 7 to 27, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, the statement of profit of loss and other comprehensive
income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of material accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (““HKICPA””) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (““HKSAs””) and
with reference to Practice Note 820 (Revised), The audit of licensed corporations and
associated entities of intermediaries, issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the HKICPA®"s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (““the Code””) and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Information other than the financial statements and auditor”s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all
the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor”s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Company®s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

In addition, the directors are required to ensure that the financial statements are in
accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of
Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts
and Audit) Rules.

Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor®s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and to report to you on the
other matters set out in the preceding paragraph, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are
required to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are in
accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of
Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts
and Audit) Rules
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company®s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors® use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company®s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor®s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as
a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Report on matters under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and
Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Ordinance

In our opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of
the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince"s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong
29 April 2025
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